DONNA EASROLD,

Petitioner,

v.

JAMES RHODES, JR., and ELOUISE RHODES,

Respondents.

PETITION TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Rothert P. Gaines Florida Bar No. 027310 Beggs & Lane Post Office Box 12950 Pensacola, Florida 32576 904/469-3300 Attorneys for Petitioner

#

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a petition to invoke the discretionary juris diction of this court on the ground that the opinion of the
District Court of Appeal, First District, directly conflicts with
an opinion of this court as well as two opinions from the
District Court of Appeal, Fifth District.

The appeal was taken to the District Court of Appeal, First District" by the plaintiffs in the trial court who were not satisfied with the amount of damages awarded to them by the jury's verdict. Elouise Rhodes contended that she sustained a permanent injury in a motor vehicle collision with Donna Easkold. James Rhodes, Jr., sought damages based upon his wife's injuries. The jury found that Mrs. Rhodes did not sustain a permanent injury and therefore did not award any non-economic damages to either Elouise Rhodes or James Rhodes, Jr. It did award Elouise Rhodes damages for past and future medical expenses and lost Mr. and Mrs. Rhodes took an appeal from the judgment in their favor contending that they should have been granted a new trial on damages. The District Court of Appeal, First District, agreed, reversing the judgment for a new trial with Judge Wolf dissenting.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts necessary for consideration of the jurisdictional issues are found in the district court of appeal's decision (A-2 to A-4) as follows:

The depositions of three physicians were presented at the trial. Dr. Flynn, an orthopedic surgeon, first saw Rhodes in August 1988, at which time she was complaining of pain in her neck, back, and left knee, stemming from the auto accident. A CT scan and arthrogram revealed a herniated disc, nerve impairment in the neck and lower back, arthritic changes in the kneecap, and both torn cartilage and a small chip inside the left knee joint. In February 1989, Flynn performed surgery on the kneecap and, during surgery, discovered a fracture. Flynn's opinion that the fracture was caused by trauma, "and from the history she [Rhodes] gave me, the only trauma that she knew of or at least she related to me was the auto accident." It was also Flynn's opinion that Rhodes had sustained permanent injuries to her left knee, back, and neck, in the auto accident. He admitted on cross-examination that he had no way of knowing what percentage of Rhodes' impairment had existed before the 1988 auto accident except "what she told me."

Dr. VerVoort performed an IME on Rhodes in November 1989. It was his opinion, after examining her medical records and taking a history from Rhodes, that she had sustained a permanent injury to her neck, low back, and left knee as a result of the July 1988 auto accident. In giving her history to Dr. VerVoort, Rhodes had denied any history of neck or back pain prior to the July 1988 accident. Dr. VerVoort admitted that he was relying upon Rhodes' statements to him to determine that there was some aggravation of her knee from the accident.

In addition, the record contained the deposition of **Dr.** Jankauskas, who had been Rhodes' regular physician since 1981.

Jankauskas' review of medical charts revealed that Rhodes had been examined both at his office and at the county clinic, on several occasions between 1975 and 1986, for various conditions, including numbness in her left leg and toes, pain in her back, numbness and pain on the left side of her head and neck, left leg pain, and pain in the ears and back. Neither Dr. Flynn nor Dr. VerVoort had had access to these medical records at the time of their depositions.

During cross-examination of plaintiff at trial, it was elicited that she had stated in an April 1990 deposition that she had never had any kind of trouble with her back or knees before the 1988 accident, had had no other injuries before the accident that required treatment from a doctor, and had not complained to Dr. Jankauskas about pain in her neck, back, or knees before the accident. In a second deposition in June of 1990, the plaintiff admitted that she had left her job in the maintenance department at Sacred Heart Hospital after she was hit in the leg with a buffer, causing her to fall down. She also admitted that she had "probably had a little backache or headache" at times before the 1988 accident.

After considering the evidence presented, the jury found Easkold to have been negligent, and awarded the Rhodeses a total of \$37,000 for past and future medical expenses and loss of earning ability. No damages were awarded on the plaintiff's claims for pain and suffering or loss of consortium, however, and the jury specifically found that plaintiff had not sustained a permanent injury. Plaintiff's motion for new trial, in which she argued that the uncontradicted medical evidence indicated that she had sustained permanent injuries as a result of the auto accident, was denied.

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- (1) The decision of the district court of appeal directly conflicts with other appellate decisions in regard to the weight to be given expert testimony.
- (2) The decision of the district court of appeal directly conflicts with another appellate decision in regard to the burden of proving permanent injury.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

# Issue 1 = Effect of Expert Testimony

The District Court of Appeal, First District, held that even though there is evidence from which the jury could conclude that factual assumptions made by an expert medical witness are not correct, the jury cannot choose to disregard that expert's opinion unless the expert testifies that the opinion would be different if the expert was aware of the actual facts. This holding directly conflicts with the rule expressed in decisions of this court and of other district courts of appeal to the effect that a jury has the right to reject opinion testimony when the factual basis for the opinion is proved to be unsound.

# <u>Issue 2 - Burden of Proof</u>

The decision of the District Court of Appeal" First District, imposes upon the defendant in a motor vehicle personal injury case the burden of establishing that the plaintiff did not sustain a permanent injury. This is in conflict with the decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, that

the burden of proving a permanent injury by **a** preponderance of the evidence **is** upon the plaintiff.

#### **ARGUMENT**

### Issue 1 - Effect of Expert Testimony

The holding of the First District is found in the last paragraph of its opinion (A-6) as follows:

As in Morey, the plaintiff in the instant case presented expet medical testimony that she had sustained permanent injuries as a result of her 1988 auto accident, defendant presented no medical evidence to the contrary, and neither Dr. Flynn nor Dr. VerVoort testified that additional medical history would have changed their opinions. Further, as in Faucher, supra, the defendant in the instant case failed to specifically ask Drs. VerVoort and Flynn at their depositions whether their opinions would have been different had they known Mrs. Rhodes' complete medical history. Because the medical evidence of permanency was therefore uncontroverted, the jury's verdict of no permanent injury was contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence, and appellant's motion for new trial should have been granted.

The court has therefore held that even though there is evidence from which the jury could conclude that the medical expert's opinion as to whether the collision caused a permanent injury is based upon erroneous statements made by the patient, the jury is not permitted to arrive at a conclusion that there is no permanent injury. In other words, in the context of the no fault threshold of permanent injury, the District Court of Appeal, First District, has established a rule that a jury cannot disregard expert opinion even when it concludes that the factual

assumptions underlying the opinion are incorrect. This holding is in direct conflict with at least two appellate decisions, including one from this court.

In Shaw v. Puleo, 159 So.2d 641 (Fla. 1964), this court reversed a decision of the District Court of Appeal, First District, in a somewhat similar situation. That case arose from a rearend automobile collision. Expert medical testimony was presented that the minor plaintiff had sustained a permanent neck injury. The jury found liability in favor of the plaintiffs but awarded no damages. The trial court denied the plaintiffs' motion for new trial. The district court of appeal reversed for a new trial on damages" including in its opinion (159 So.2d at 642) the following:

medical testimony. It appears to be generally accepted that where injuries are of such a character as to require skilled professional persons to determine the nature, extent and duration thereof, and the proper procedures for treatment, the question is one of science and must be determined by skilled professional persons.

Testimony thuse adduced may not be arbitrarily disregarded by the finders of fact when not contradicted by proof of equal dignity, nor open to doubt from any reasonable point of view.

This court disagreed with those statements in the opinion of the District Court of Appeal, First District. This court said (159 So.2d at 643):

While we agree that jurors and the courts ordinarily are not qualified to determine the "proper procedures for <u>diagnosing and treating"</u> a particular human ailment in a

malpractice **case**, this does not mean that a jury is not free, in the ordinary negligence case, to accept or reject the testimony of a medical expert just **as it may** accept **or** reject that of any other expert. • • •

A like situation exists when the opinion of the expert is based upon hypothetical questions. If the jury should find that the facts on which the hypothesis or theory is based are not proved, the answers of the experts would necessarily fall with the hypothesis.

So, too, where there are in fact conflicts which arise in testimony given during the trial, it is the function of the jury to resolve them and it is within their province to reject the expert testimony and rely on lay evidence.

For these reasons we must reiterate that even though the facts testified to by Dr. Albee are not within the ordinary experience of the members of the jury, the jury was still free to determine their credibility and to decide the weight to be ascribed to them in the face of conflicting lay evidence.

In short, this court held that a jury is entitled to disregard the opinion of a medical expert if it concludes that the underlying assumptions upon which the opinion is based are not factually correct. The District Court of Appeal, First District, in the instant case held that a jury cannot disregard such expert opinion unless the expert is confronted with the erroneous assumption and testifies that his opinion would be different if the true facts were known.

The decision sought to be reviewed is also in direct conflict with <u>Burton v. Powell</u>, 547 So.2d 330 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989). In that case the jury found that the plaintiff had not sustained a permanent injury in the motor vehicle collision. One

of the points that she raised on the appeal was that the trial court should have directed a verdict in her favor on the issue of permanency. On that issue, the Fifth District said (547 So.2d at 332):

The appellant also contends the trial court should have directed a verdict on the issue of the permanency of her injury. We disagree. Without belaboring the point, we simply reiterate the established precept that a jury is free in the ordinary negligence case to accept or reject the testimony of a medical expert just as it may accept or reject that of any other expert.

In the instant case, the First District has held that a jury is not authorized to accept or reject the opinion of an expert. It has held that the expert's opinion must be accepted even if based upon erroneous assumptions unless the expert himself testifies that his opinion would be different if he were aware of the true facts.

In the context of expert medical testimony in a personal injury damage suit the opinion of the District Court of Appeal, First District, is in direct conflict with the decisions of this court and of the Fifth District. This court should exercise its discretion to accept jurisdiction to harmonize the law of the First District with that of the rest of the state.

## Issue 2 - Burden of Proof

The holding of the First District also has the effect of shifting the burden of proof in regard to a permanent injury in a suit arising out of a motor vehicle collision. The decision

below imposes upon the defendant an obligation to establish by contrary medical testimony the absence of a permanent injury, thereby altering the rule that the burden of proving an essential element of a claim for damages is upon the plaintiff. This holding conflicts with Estate of Wallace v. Fisher, 567 So.2d 505 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). One of the issues decided in that case was that the jury should have been instructed that the plaintiff was required to establish the existence of a permanent injury by the preponderance of the evidence.

new trial, the District Court of Appeal, First District, extended its previous holding in Morev v. Harper, 541 So.2d 1285 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) rev. den. 551 So.2d 461 (Fla. 1989). It had held in that case that when the plaintiff presents expert medical testimony that remains materially uncontradicted, a jury verdict of no permanent injury will be found to be contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. It has now gone farther and has held that even when an expert medical witness admits that his opinion is based upon assumptions that the jury could find to be erroneous, the defendant must present additional evidence proving that the plaintiff does not have a permanent injury. The decision sought to be reviewed is therefore in conflict with the decision of the Fifth District also.

#### CONCLUSION

The decision of the District Court of Appeal, First District, in this case is in direct conflict with at least one decision of this court and of another district court of appeal on the issue of whether a jury is entitled to disregard the opinion of an expert witness if it finds that factual assumptions made by the expert are erroneous. The decision is also in conflict with that of another district court of appeal in shifting the burden of proof in regard to the permanency of an injury in a motor vehicle case from the plaintiff to the defendant. This court should exercise its discretion to take jurisdiction of this case to clarify the law of Florida on both of those issues.

Robert P. Gaines

Florida **Bar** No. 027310

Beggs & Lane

Post Office Box 12950 Pensacola, Florida 32576

904/469-3300

Attorneys for petitioner

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

JAMES RHODES, JR., and ELOUISE RHODES, Husband and Wife,	)	NOT FINAL UNTIL TIME EXPIRES TO FILE REHEARING MOTION AND DISPOSITION THEREOF IF FILED
Appellants,	)	CASE NO. 90-3840
vs.	)	
DONNA EASKOLD,	)	
Appellee.	)	

Opinion filed October 10, 1991.

An Appeal from the Circuit Court for Escambia County. Lacey Collier, Judge.

Thomas E. Wheeler, Jr., of Bell, Schuster & Wheeler, P.A., Pensacola, for Appellants.

Robert P. Gaines, of Beggs & Lane, Pensacola, for Appellee.

SHIVERS, Judge.

Appellants, plaintiffs below, appeal the trial court's denial of their motion for new trial. We reverse, and remand for a new trial.

The record indicates that appellants, James and Elouise Rhodes, were involved in an auto accident with appellee, Donna Easkold, in July 1988. The Rhodeses filed a negligence action

against Easkold, seeking damages connected with Elouise Rhodes' injuries. Easkold denied liability, and a jury trial was conducted in 1990.