005

CASE NO. 79,138

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILL L

DONNA EASKOLD,

Petitioner,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

VS .

Chief Deputy Clerk

JAMES MODES, JR., and ELOUISE RHODES,

Respondents.

AMENDED RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Thomas E. Wheeler, Jr.
Bell, Schuster & Wheeler, P.A.
119 West Garden Street
Post Office Box 12564
Pensacola, FL 32573-2564
(904) 438-1691
FL Bar #243752
Attorney for Respondents

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- (1) The decision of the district court of appeal does not conflict with other appellate decisions in regard to the weight to be given expert testimony.
- (2) The decision of the district court of appeal does not conflict with other appellate decisions in regard to the burden of proving permanent injury.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I - EFFECT OF EXPERT TESTIMONY

Contrary to the Petitioner's statement of this issue in her summary of the argument, the opinion below does not hold that where there is evidence from which a jury could conclude that factual assumptions made by an expert medical witness are not correct, the jury cannot choose to disregard that expert's opinion. The whole underlying issue is that there must be, on the record, a material contradiction of any relevant facts. There is no record basis of any material facts on the record below upon which the expert opinion could be rejected. The whole holding of the opinion below is the issue of materiality. This is a basic rule of evidence and is consistent with all other appellate decisions in Florida.

ISSUE II - BURDEN OF PROOF

Contrary to any assertions of the Petitioner, the First District Court of Appeals has clearly placed the burden of

establishing a permanent injury upon the Plaintiff and in fact has gone to far as to require expert medical testimony by the <u>Plaintiff</u>. This is in fact consistent with **opinions** from other District Courts of Appeal.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I - EFFECT OF EXPERT TESTIMONY

with all due respect, there is no direct and express conflict in the decision below with any decision of this Court or any other District Courts of Appeal. The judgment below was reversed upon the now established authority of Morev v. Harper, 541 So.2d 1295, (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied 551 So.2d 461 (Fla. 1989). This Court reviewed the exact same arguments presented in this Petition as to an appellate court's analysis af when a jury's verdict of no permanency, pursuant to Chapter 627.737(2)(b), is against the manifest weight of the evidence, and rejected a review of such arguments at that time. There has been no authority which directly or expressly conflicts with the holding in Morey since that time.

Further, the issue of when a jury verdict of no permanency is against the manifest weight of the evidence in Morev was based on Scarfone v. Magaldi, 522 So.2d 901 (Fla. 3rd DCA), review denied 531 So.2d 1351 (Fla. 1988), where again this Court also refused review.

The Defendant is simply seeking a review of the factual basis for the discretionary exercise by the Court below in setting aside a portion of the jury verdict below, not any conflict of decision.

The case below deals with the application of the manifest weight of evidence rule as applied to Chapter 627.737(2)(b). This Court's decision of Shaw v. Puleo, 159 So.2d 641 (Fla. 1964) does not deal with that statute at all. The other case cited be the Petitioner under issue one, Burton v. Powell, 547 \$0.2d 330 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), does not deal with the manifest weight rule for granting a new trial but rather dealt with the "request for a directed verdict". It is not even the same subject matter. Further, it only tangentially mentions the general rule recited in Shaw v. Puleo. Neither of these cases establishes conflict of any sort with the decision below.

The general rule of law laid down in the case below and in Morey is that a jury may reject the expert testimony if it is properly materially impeached. The teaching of Morey and the case below is simply that the impeachment or contradiction must be established as being material to the issue of a permanent injury under Chapter 627. What the Defendant/Petitioner in this cause apparently is attempting to propose is that a jury has an absolute right to reject good and sufficient evidence presented by a plaintiff and that under no circumstances can that jury verdict be set aside by the Florida judiciary. This Court has long held that verdicts which are

contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence must be set aside. See <u>Cloud v. Fallis</u>, 110 **So.2d** 669, 673 (Fla. 1959); Scarfone, supra. See also <u>Short v. Ehrler</u>, 510 \$0.2d 1110 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) and <u>Martin v. Young</u>, 443 So.2d 293 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983).

Additionally, this Court has held that as to its conflict jurisdiction, where the cases are claimed to be in conflict are distinguishable on their facts, review on the ground of conflict will not lie. Florida Power and Light Co. v. Bell, 113 So.2d 697 (Fla. 1959). This is exactly the case in point. In both Morey and the case below, there was a specific fracture and trauma injury recited in the facts by the First District Court of Appeal. The cases cited by Petitioner in her brief either have no recitation of the nature of the injuries or the injury described was what is commonly called soft tissue injury or whiplash. Thus, the rules are based on different factual settings in the first place.

Finally, the rule cited for review by the Petitioner is in fact consistent (not conflicting) as between the case below and those cited by the Petitioner. For instance, in Shaw v. Puleo, supra, this Court certainly laid down no rule that a jury is free to disregard the evidence presented at trial. In that soft tissue case, this Court found that there was specific "conflicting lay evidence" (although not identified in the opinion) to impeach a hypothetical soft tissue injury. There was no objective fracture as in this case. In that

materiality is a predicate for the presentation of any **piece** of evidence, it can only be assumed that such "conflicting lay evidence" was in fact material.

Contrary to the Petitioner's assertion at page 5 of her brief, there is, in fact, no evidence in which a jury could conclude that the two medical experts' opinions in this case were in any way based upon supposedly erroneous statements made by the patient. The only person asserting that any such statements are erroneous in the first place is the Petitioner.

As noted above, the <u>Shaw v. Puleo</u> holding in no way dealt with the specific requirements under Chapter 627.737(2)(b). As the First District explained in <u>Morey</u>, this particular requirement that a plaintiff must meet, i.e., "permanent injury", must be met by specific expert medical testimony. For instance, at page 1288, the <u>Morey</u> court noted:

Subsection (b), the threshold requirement appellant contends he satisfied, requires "permanent injury within a reasonable degree of medical probability, other or disfigurement". than scarring statute does not, however, define what is meant by "permanent injury" and the jury was not instructed an any standard $\circ r$ criteria for determining whether a particular injury is or is not permanent. Therefore, even though the phrase "permanent injury is not a word of art m the medical profession, nevertheless the determination of what constitutes a permanent injury must, as a practical matter, be left to physicians trained in that profession.

Hence, the language requiring proof of a permanent injury based on a reasonable degree of medical probability requires

proof that can only be satisfied by expert medical testimony. See Fay v. Mincey, 454 So.2d 587 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984); Avis Rent-A-Car Svstem, Inc., v. Stuart, 301 So.2d 29 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1974). Thus, only such medical expert can identify what type of evidence (lay testimony, medical records, previous statements or whatever) would alter this opinion.

The second case cited by the Petitioner is Burton v. Powell, supra. The relevant issue on appeal in that case was whether or not a directed verdict in regard to the permanency of the injury should be affirmed. It had nothing to do with the granting of a new trial as being against the manifest weight of the evidence as is the case below. Additionally, there is absolutely no discussion of the type injuries suffered in this case. At page 332 of the opinion, the Court, citing this Court in Shaw v. Puleo, supra, stated that in fact the testimony of a medical expert may be accepted or rejected like that of any other expert. However, again that opinion in no way disagrees with the holding of the case below and certainly is not a direct and express conflict. statement of law clearly signifies that a jury is not to be given unfettered discretion in this area. That certainly doesn't establish a "direct and express" conflict with the decision below. The case is further distinguishable in that it apparently dealt with what the Fifth District noted to be "an implied finding by the jury, consistent with the trial court's instruction, that the plaintiff had sustained a

permanent injury per the threshold requirements of Chapter 627.737(2), Florida Statutes". The case simply is not dealing with any issue involved in the case below and thus cannot be in conflict.

ISSUE II - BURDEN OF PROOF

The Petitioner cites only the case of Estate of Wallace v. Fisher, 567 So.2d 505 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) on this point. At page 9 of her brief, the Petitioner erroneously misconstrues the opinion before when it states that in this case "an expert medical witness admits that his opinion is based upon assumptions that the jury could find to be erroneous". Again, there is absolutely no such statement from either of the expert medical witnesses contained in the opinion below or in the trial transcript.

The medical physicians in the case at bar found that among the several injuries, there was in fact a specific fracture caused by trauma. No where in any of the medical records, statements of the Plaintiff, any lay witness, or from any other source does the Defendant even suggest another trauma that could have caused this specific injury other than the accident sued upon. Instead, Petitioner says to this Court that this uncontra-dicted evidence of trauma may be disregarded by the jury without consequences of having a new trial granted. Presumably, the only (and very brief) discussion of the issues addressed in the petition contained

in the <u>Estate of Wallace</u> is found in two sentences in footnote 11 at page **509**. Again, this is pure dicta and has nothing to do with the case, which was whether or not the defendant was entitled to a <u>iury instruction</u> on no-fault. Such passing dicta cannot be a basis to establish a direct and express conflict necessary to invoke this Court's jurisdiction. Furthermore, it is of interest to note that the statement of the law attributed to <u>Burton v. Powell</u>, <u>supra</u>, is in fact not the statement found in <u>Burton</u>.

However, the essential issue raised by Issue II of the Petition that there is some sort of shifting of a burden of proof by the case below is absolutely inaccurate. On page 9 of her brief, Petitioner states that the decision below

imposes upon the Defendant an obligation to establish by contrary medical evidence the absence of a permanent injury, thereby altering the rule that the burden of proving an essential element far the claim for damages is upon the Plaintiff. This holding conflicts with <u>Estate of Wallace v. Fisher</u>, **567** So.2d 505 (Fla. 5th **DCA** 1990).

As noted above, the <u>Estate of Wallace</u> case only had to deal with the issue of whether or not the defendant got a proper jury instruction. It had nothing to do with the burden of proof. Irregardless, the rule laid out in the Court below says absolutely nothing about the Defendant having to produce "contrary medical testimony". (As in any case that type of presentation is at the option of the defendant if she could

produce said evidence which she so obviously could not in this case). The rule as laid out by this Court in <u>Shaw v. Puleo</u> is still in full force and effect. The expert testimony of the plaintiff, which is mandated by Court decision (see <u>Fav v. Mincev</u>, <u>supra</u>), **can** still be impeached by lay testimony and other "relevant and material" impeachment.

More importantly, noted above (at page 5) in the quote (from page 1288 of the opinion), the Morey court clearly showed that the burden of proof is on the Plaintiff to establish "permanent injury within a reasonable degree of medical probability, other than scarring or disfigurement". That opinion reiterates the law of the State of Florida that that specific expert medical testimony must be shown by the plaintiff, not by the defendant, or his case will fail. See Fav v. Mincev, supra, and Avis Rent-A-Car System, Inc. v. Stuart, supra. Thus to possibly suggest that there has been any type of shifting of a burden of proof is totally unwarranted. There is no conflict.

CONCLUSION

This Court should refuse to exercise its discretion to take jurisdiction of this case as there is no "express and direct" conflict with any of this Court's decisions or any other District Court of Appeals. The issues raised in this matter are the same raised by Morey v. Harper, 541 So.2d 1285 (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied 551 So.2d 461 (Fla. 1989), and the Court saw fit to deny review in that case and it should be done in this case also.